Local neuronal dynamics in planning during Wisconsin card sorting test in ADHD

Jasmin Elonen University of Helsinki Faculty of Arts Master's thesis Cognitive science

Tiivistelmä

Tiedekunta: Humanistinen tiedekunta Koulutusohjelma: Kognitiotiede Tekijä: Jasmin Elonen Työn nimi: Local neuronal dynamics in planning during Wisconsin card sorting test in ADHD Työn laji: Pro Gradu Kuukausi ja vuosi: 9/21 Sivumäärä: 48 Avainsanat: oskillaatiot, etuaivokuori, ADHD, toiminnanohjaus Ohjaaja tai ohjaajat: Satu Palva Säilytyspaikka: Helsingin yliopisto – HELDA/E-thesis (Digitaaliset opinnäytteet)

Tiivistelmä:

Jotta tehokkaiden ja tuotteliaiden päätösten tekeminen on mahdollista, ihmisen tulee suunnitella toimintaansa läpi elämän oleellisen tiedon ylläpitämisen ja päivittämisen avulla. Tällaiset tavoitteelliset tilanteet vaativat joustavaa käyttäytymisen hienosäätöä ja epäoleellisen tiedon vaimentamista. Toiminnanohjauksessa vaadittava kognitiivinen joustavuus, työmuisti ja inhibitio, on liitetty poikkeavaa etuaivokuoren toimintaan. Etuaivokuoren on aiemmin havaittu toimivan taaemmilta alueilta tulevan aistitiedon prosessoijana. Rakenteellisia ja toiminnallisia poikkeavuuksia on löydetty aktiivisuuden ja tarkkaavuuden häiriössä (ADHD) liittyen toiminnanohjauksen aivoalueisiin. Perustana oleva syy toiminnanohjauksen häiriöön ja vaikeuksiin suunnittelussa sekä päätöksenteossa saattaa löytyä yllä mainituista poikkeavuuksista. On silti epäselvää, miten aivojen oskillaatiot muokkaavat erilasia kognitiivisia toimintoja suunnitteluun ja päätöksentekoon liittyen. Tämän tutkimiseksi aivotoimintaa mitattiin MEG-laitteella koehenkilöiden (21 ADHD, 28 kontrolliosallistujaa) suorittaessa Wisconsin korttienlajittelutehtävää (WCST). WCST on nopeatempoinen tehtävä, jossa lajitellaan kortteja muuttuvien sääntöjen mukaan palautetta apuna käyttäen. Tämän tutkimuksen tarkoituksena oli tutkia ADHD-aikuisia ja kontrolliryhmää WCST-suunnitteluvaiheen aikana verraten kokeen suorittamista aiemmin saadun oikean tai väärän palautteen mukaan. ADHD ja kontrolliryhmän välillä odotettiin eroa paikallisessa hermosolutoiminnassa etuaivokuorella ja taaemmilla alueilla. Data-analyysi sekä lähdemallinnus ja rekonstruktio tehtiin neuronaalisten (MEG) mittausten ja aivojen rakenteellisten (MRI) mittausten perusteella. Tilastolliset analyysit tehtiin selvittäen paikallisten hermosolujen amplitudidynamiikkaa ja visualisoitiin ryhmien sisällä ja välillä. Reaktioajat ja osumatarkkuus eivät osoittaneet merkittäviä eroja ryhmien välillä. Kuitenkin kontrasti suunnittelun aikana verraten oikeita-vääriä vastauksia, ilmensi tehostunutta ja vaimentunutta aivotoimintaa delta-, theta-, alfa- ja beta-oskillaatioissa. Kontrolliryhmä osoitti aktiivisuutta etuaivokuoressa-, parietaalisessa, temporaalisessa ja näköaivoalueilla. Nämä alueet on aiemmin liitetty ns. oletustilan verkostoon sekä somaattisliikkeelliseen verkostoon. Tehostunutta aktiivisuutta havaittiin beta- ja alfa -oskillaatioissa. ADHD -ryhmässä suurin positiivinen aktiivisuus havaittiin etuaivolohkossa ja parietaali- sekä kuuloaivoalueella, jotka on liitetty kahteen huomioverkostoon ja somaattis-liikkeelliseen, mutta myös oletustilan ja näköaivoalueiden verkkoon. Ryhmien välisessä vertailussa havaittiin vaimentunutta delta-, theta- ja alfa -oskillaatioiden aktiivisuutta aivojen lateraalisilla alueilla temporaalilohkolla. Nämä alueet liittyivät ventraalisen huomion ja somaattis-liikkeelliseen verkkoihin. Heikentynyttä aivotoimintaa havaittiin ADHD -ryhmässä vaimentuneissa positiivisesti aktivoituneissa betaoskillaatioissa verrattuna kontrolliryhmään ja kokonaan puuttuvista positiivisesti aktivoituneissa alfa -oskillaatioissa. Tulevien tutkimusten tehtäväksi jää näiden värähtelyiden toiminnan roolien tulkitseminen. Suuntaa-antavia tuloksia ADHD potilaiden aivotoiminnan poikkeavuudesta voitiin löytää aivoalueista ja toiminnasta jotka liittyvät joustavuuden ja työmuistin rooleihin suunnittelussa ja päätöksenteossa. Tulokset viittaavat myös siihen, että WCST:n suunnittelu edellyttää monien kognitiivisten toimintojen ja prosessien joustavaa organisaatiota, joita moduloivat tehostuneet alfa- ja beta -oskillaatiot sekä vaimentuneet delta- ja theta -värähtelyt.

Abstract

Faculty: Faculty of Arts
Subject: Cognitive science
Specialization: Cognitive neuroscience
Author: Jasmin Elonen
Title: Local neuronal dynamics in planning during Wisconsin card sorting test in ADHD
Type: Master's thesis
Month and year: 9/21
Pages:
Keywords: neuronal oscillations, prefrontal cortex, ADHD, executive functions
Supervisor: Satu Palva
Where deposited: University of Helsinki – HELDA/E-thesis (Digital theses)

Abstract:

To make fast and efficient decisions in changing environments, humans must plan their actions throughout their lives by maintaining and updating relevant information. Such goal-directed situations demand flexible adjustment of behavior and the suppression of task-irrelevant details. Executive dysfunctions in cognitive flexibility, working memory and inhibition have been related to aberrant prefrontal cortex functioning. The prefrontal cortex has previously been found to have an important role in these executive functions as a supervisory modulator and processor of information from posterior sensory brain areas. Structural and functional abnormalities in these brain areas have been found in attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). These impairments may be the underlying reason for problems in decision making and planning for people with ADHD. However how the brain's oscillatory activity modulates different cognitive functions in areas relating to planning and decision making is still unclear. To investigate this the brain's activity was measured with MEG while participants (21 ADHD patients, 28 controls) performed in Wisconsin card sorting test (WCST). WCST is a fast-paced task, where cards are sorted according to changing rule categories with the direction of feedback. The aim of this study was to investigate planning in adults with ADHD and a control group during WCST planning period and compare trials with previous feedback being correct or incorrect. Difference in the local neuronal activity in prefrontal and posterior areas were expected between the ADHD and control groups. Data-analysis and source modelling and reconstruction were conducted on the neuronal (MEG) data and structural (MRI) data. Statistical analyses were run for local neuronal amplitude dynamics and visualized within and between groups.

The behavioral results of reaction times and hit rates did not show significant differences between groups. Clinical questionnaire scores did not correlate with reaction times. However, contrast of planning in correct-incorrect feedback trials within groups showed increased and decreased brain activity in delta, theta, alpha and beta oscillations. The control group showed activity in frontal, parietal, temporal, and occipital regions related to default mode, somatomotor with increased activity in the beta and alpha bands. For the ADHD group greatest positive activity was seen in beta band in frontal and parietal areas, but also in occipital regions. These activation sites were mostly related to dorsal and ventral attention and somatomotor networks but also to default mode and visual networks. Mostly temporal activity of suppressed delta, theta and alpha oscillations in the lateral areas was seen in the between groups comparison. These areas related to ventral attention and somatomotor networks. Impaired neuronal activity in the ADHD group was seen in weaker increased beta than the control group and the missing increased alpha oscillations. It remains for the future studies to interpret the roles of this oscillatory activity but direction towards impairments in cognitive functions like flexibility, working memory and inhibition in planning in ADHD. These data also suggest that planning in the WCST needs the flexible modulation of many cognitive functions and processes that are modulated by increased alpha and beta oscillations.

Table of contents

	Abbreviations					
1.	Introduction	. 1				
	 1.1. Executive functions	. 1 . 3 . 4 . 4				
	1.3.2. Diagnostics	. 5				
	1.4. Brain anatomy and structure	. 6 . 7				
	1.5. Measuring brain activity from humans1.5.1. Neuronal activity can be recorded with electrophysiology	. 9 . 9				
	1.6. Aberrant brain structure and function in ADHD1.6.1. Structural abnormalities in ADHD	11 11				
	1.6.2. Functional abnormalities in ADHD	11				
2.	Purpose of the study	12				
3.	Methods	13				
	 3.1. Participant demographics and recruitment	13 13 14 15				
4.	Analysis	16				
5.	4.1. Behavioural analysis4.2. MEG and MRI data analysisResults	16 17 20				
	 5.1. Behavioural results	20 24 26				
	5.2.2. Increased frontal and parietal β oscillations during WCST planning in ADHD group	26				
	5.2.3. Δ , θ , and α suppression in frontal, parietal, and temporal areas greater in ADHD compared controls 27	to				
6.	Discussion	27				
	 6.1. No significant differences in reaction times, hit rates or clinical questionnaire scores found between ADHD and control group. 6.2. Less activated sites in prefrontal, parietal and occipital areas in the ADHD group than the control group during planning in WCST 6.3. Differing θ, δ, α and β oscillations during WCST planning period between ADHD and control 	28 ol 28				
	groups	31 33				
7.	Conclusions	33				
	References	36				

Abbreviations

Abbreviation	Term
ADHD	Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder
ASRS	Adult attention deficit hyperactivity disorder self-report scale
BADDS	Brown Attention Deficit Disorder Scales
BIS	Barratt Impulsiveness Scale
DAN	Dorsal attentional network
DLPFC	Dorsolateral prefrontal cortex
DSM	Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders
EEG	Electroencephalography
EF	Executive functions
EMG	electromyography
EOG	electro oculography
ERD	Event related desynchronization
FEF	frontal eye fields
fMRI	Functional magnetic resonance imaging
HR	Hit rate
ICA	Independent component analysis
IPS	intraparietal sulcus
MEG	Magnetoencephalography
MNE	Minimum norm estimates
NCM	Noise covariance matrix
PFC	Prefrontal cortex
RT	Reaction time
SOA	Stimulus onset asynchrony
SQUID	Super conducting quantum interference device
TFR	Time-frequency representations
WCST	Wisconsin card sorting test
WM	Working memory

Abbreviations of brain areas

central sulcus
paracentral lobule and sulcus
posterior central gyrus
posterior central sulcus
precentral gyrus
precuneus
superior frontal sulcus
parietal supplemental gyrus
precentral supplemental sulcus

1. Introduction

1.1. Executive functions

Executive functions (EF) are the abilities of adaptive and flexible environmental engagement in independent, purposeful, and inner-directed manner (Lezak, 1983, Chiaravalloti, et al., 2003). In the early cognitive theories, executive functioning was thought to be built on the central executive (Baddeley, 1992). It was a simplistic, single unity working memory model that had not been studied to extent. In Baddeley's own criticism executive functioning was judged to be as well explained by a homunculus, a human miniature version sitting inside one's head (Baddeley, 1996). The central executive model of the mind has since been broadened towards modular form where each executive function depends on various control processes and is separable from each other (Jurado, 2007). In Luria's model from 1960s (Luria, 1966), planning is the process of encoding, regulating and verification of information to form decisions. According to the model these processes would be represented in different parts of human brain and the damage to the prefrontal cortex would cause problems in regulating and verifying consequences of behaviour. According to the theory of supervisory attentional system (Norman & Shallice, 1986), there are two processing systems, one for automated routine actions and one for supervisory use of attention for novel information. Planning is one of the cognitive processes that was thought to be dependent on the non-routine supervisory attention.

Executive functions are often thought to be built on inhibition of irrelevant information, flexible use of surrounding information, control of attention, and working memory. (Gratton et al., 2018) Higher executive functions such as planning and problem solving need all these processes. Some EF models use the terms executive functions and cognitive control interchangeably. In their review of cognitive control, Gratton and companions (2018) have interpreted cognitive control to be related to functioning in task-specific timeline. Executive functions are thought to overlap with cognitive control and to appear in longer periods of time. The executive functions support each other in multiple levels of processing. Orchestration of many executive functions is needed for example in decision making. Planning, working memory, cognitive control and flexibility are needed in modulating fast-paced decision-making. Inhibition is also fundamental in situations that demand these cognitive functions. In the hierarchical executive functions model (Diamond, 2013), planning is described as higher-level EF alongside of reasoning and problem solving. In the core of executive functions are inhibitory control and working memory. The core functions would contribute to higher-level functions through cognitive flexibility especially when the goal is to switch from one strategy to another. Processing of EF are manifolded and need different cognitive functions to be able to flexibly use the surrounding information. Miyake et al (2000), have made a distinction between shifting (choosing from information learned in the near past) and updating (choosing from novel information). Although adaptive behaviour and inhibition of irrelevant information is needed in both processes, shifting represents the faster processing of online information that is needed in the daily lives of humans.

Planning has been studied in different tasks such as the Tower of London/Hanoi, Porteus Mazes and Rey–Osterreith Complex Figure Test. In 59% of 27 studies using these tasks, the group differences for ADHD and control group have been reported significant. (Lazeron et al., 2000, Wagner et al., 2006, Baker et al., 1996, Morris et al., 1993, Goethals et al., 2004). However, in Tower of London/Hanoi and Porteus Mazes and Rey–Osterreith Complex Figure Test there is no demand for quick test performance. In Porteus Mazes, the participant can decide the pace of performance by themselves.

In fast-paced planning, attention must be directed, distractions inhibited and previously learned information remembered simultaneously. Careful pondering of things with unlimited access of information resources and time is not possible for humans, as some models of executive functioning seem to present. In Diamond's model working memory and inhibition contribute to each other but cognitive flexibility seems to be only a conveyer between the core functions and higher functions. However, all situations cannot be acted upon in a feed-forward hierarchical manner because human behaviour is prone to errors and biases. Flexible adjustment of behaviour is needed to evaluate the environment efficiently. When there's not enough information, top-down processing takes place to make use of the information that is available. Unlike automatic bottom-up processing, top-down processing actively uses feedback from environmental information that is selectively assessed to achieve goals (Gilbert & Burgess, 2008). Planning is needed in expected and unexpected situations, to maintain information and shift between attention on different information. The top-down processing takes place when decisions have been made in uncertain situations.

1.2. Wisconsin card sorting test

One of the neurocognitive tasks demanding fast planning and decision making is the Wisconsin card sorting test (WCST) (Grant & Berg, 1948). The test was developed to provide an objective technique for measuring "human abstraction and shift of set". (Buchsbaum, et al., 2005) In the test the participant sees four cards in the top row and one card in the bottom row (See Figure 1.). The target cards on the top row stay always the same and the bottom card changes in each trial. The bottom row card needs to be sorted to one of the top row's cards according to changing task rules. There are usually three rule categories determined by the cards' shape, colour, or number.



Figure 1. Illustration of the decision-making process of the participant in one trial where the bottom row card must be sorted to one of the top row's cards by their colour, number, or shape.

WCST is based on implicit sorting rules and correct-incorrect feedback. The task is to maintain (stay trial) one rule or flexibly change (shift trial) previously chosen strategies to new ones. In WCST, there is always a level of uncertainty since the next sorting category following a rule shift is not known in advance. Thus, when the sorting rule changes, the participant often leans on trial and error to find the correct rule. In some versions of the test, the sorting rules change in predictable series, e.g.,

after every 10 trials but the series length might be varied within test. In the varied series length versions cognitive flexibility and control are especially needed.

In the test's implementation part, the participant acts upon external (feedback) and internal (remembering rules) cues. Perseverance errors in WCST means the inability to shift to a new rule by sticking to using the previous rule. Set shifting in WCST means the flexible cognitive process of changing between different sorting categories. Some research on preparatory/planning processing in WCST has been done previously, like set-shifting (Periáñez et al., 2004) or feedback processing but rarely in the context of maintaining of the rule set information (Drover-Roig & Barceló, 2010).

1.3. ADHD

Meta-analytic reviews have found the worldwide prevalence to range between 2,5-5 % in adults diagnosed with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) by the DSM-IV criteria (Simon, et al., 2009, Willcutt, 2012, Fayyad, et al., 2017). The worldwide prevalence for children and adolescents has been reported to be 5-7% (Polanczyk, et al., 2014, Willcutt, 2012, Polanczyk, 2007). In a recent review (Dobrosavljevic, et al., 2020) the prevalence in adults 50 years and above was found to range between 1.49-2.18 %.

1.3.1. Symptoms

ADHD was first described by Still (1902) as an inability to sustain attention and control behaviour. (Barkley, 2015) Medical doctor Anthony Weikard called ADHD as an 'attention problem' in his 1775 research (Barkley & Peters, 2012). He described symptoms like distractibility and hyperactivity. More recently the DSM-IV (Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders: DSM-IV, 1996) diagnostic criteria for ADHD introduced three main types of predominantly inattentive, hyperactiveimpulsive or a combination of these types. Inattention is the failure of paying and directing attention as well as maintaining specific information needed to perform tasks. Hyperactivity means restlessness and producing excessive movements. Impulsivity means fast and unplanned reactivity. These symptoms manifest to an extent that may cause problems for the individual and people around them. (The National Institute of Mental Health, 2019, Moeller, et al., 2001)

Although ADHD is strongly characterized with an inability to concentrate it is not uncommon that these individuals can have a deep and long-lasting ability to concentrate on tasks. This deep concentration state, called hyper focus, emerges from activities where the individual might get an instant reward of. Hyper focus can lead to positive outcomes like learning new things, but it can also be problematic. In hyper focus state, people tend to lean on preservative strategies that are characterized by repetitive and inflexible behaviours. These strategies lead to difficulties in shifting attention from one task or detail to another which is fundamental for executive functioning.

1.3.2. Diagnostics

ADHD diagnosing is subjective since it relies mainly on clinicians', parents', or other caregiver's observations. Despite the long history of research on the disorder, there is no unified diagnostic measure of ADHD. Clinical interviews and self-questionnaires are used, but they are not always similar, let alone identical with each other. This makes diagnosing and treatment planning uncertain and difficult.

One criterion for the diagnosis is the age-of-onset at seven but sometimes earlier manifestation of symptoms of inattention may arise before the age of seven (Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders: DSM-IV, 1996). The age-of-onset was broadened until the age of 12 in DSM-5 (American psychiatric association, 2013). In 1798 a physician Alexander Crichton predicted ADHD to be mostly a disorder of childhood. However, in the more recent times Barkley, et al., (2002) reported that the childhood diagnosis for ADHD is persistent to adolescence. Furthermore, the persistence to adulthood has been found to be ranging from 30-70% for the young-age-diagnosed (Biederman et al., 2000, Kessler et al., 2005, Faraone et al., 2006). The differing views of persistency are explained by the studies' emphasis on different aspects of cognitive functions and other ADHD symptoms. Comorbidity with depression, anxiety and mood disorders, substance abuse and dependence, and personality disorders have also been linked to ADHD. (Biederman, 2004, Katzman, et al., 2017)

In a recent study by Rovira et. al. (2020) the genetic background for different traits were seen in children and adults with ADHD. Crichton had presumed of the possible heritability of the disorder already in 1798 (Crichton, 1798). In the more recent times heritability measures have ranged from 30-90% in twin gene studies. The wide range of heritability estimates stems from differing ways of studying it. The higher estimates in the young-aged-studies were found by measuring the occurrence of ADHD in the children's and adolescent's parents. The lower estimates from adult studies were found by self-reporting of the twins. (Brikell, Kuja-Halkola, & Larsson, 2015)

5

There has been raised a concern about over diagnosing ADHD, especially in children. On the contrary, under diagnosing has been reported for children and adults. The heterogeneity of the disorder symptoms between individuals raises its own kind of issues for the diagnostics. Other reason could simply be related to how visible the symptoms in different subtypes of ADHD are. Although the most common type of ADHD is the mainly inattentive type, the individuals with the combined type are directed to medical care more often (Willcutt, 2012). Yet another possible explanation for over- and underdiagnosing could also be found in the unestablished diagnostic criteria.

1.4. Brain anatomy and structure

It is important to find out how the meaningful representations of the surrounding world are formed in the brain to better understand how the mind works. The biology of the mind has emerged as one of the governing subjects of study in cognitive neuroscience in the 21st century. The whole human brain has around 86 billion neurons and 16 billion neurons only in the cerebral cortex i.e., the brain's folded surface. The shape of cerebral cortex is characteristic of its grooves, called sulci, and ridges called gyri (Figure 2.). The main parts of the brain are cerebellum in the back of the head, brainstem, connecting brain to the spine, and cerebrum that consists of cerebral cortex and subcortical areas. The largest part of cerebral cortex is neocortex consisting of six layers (Figure 2.) that withhold massive amounts of information and connections. The neocortex is comprised mostly of grey matter. Grey matter is rich in neuronal and glial cell bodies. The neuronal cells convey information and glial cells support the work of neurons. Neurons are connected by branched dendrites that have synapses in their endings. The dendrites' branches continue from the grey matter cells to the white matter consisting of myelin covered axons in subcortical areas.



Figure 2. Illustration of the human head's layers from skull to pyramidal cells in grey matter to the white matter. Figures from Blausen.com staff, (2014) and Consenza, (1998).

1.4.1. Functional networks of the brain

The brain's connections can be examined in different scales from the level of individual cell to largescale connections between clusters of cells and throughout the brain's layers from the surface to the innermost areas. Structural connectivity (SC) networks are the anatomically distributed areas of the neural or white-matter connections in brain. In humans, white matter tracts forming the SC networks can be estimated using diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) and with magnetic resonance imaging (MRI).

Cognition is based on dynamically organized networks of the brain. The network theories aim to explain the functioning of the complex systems such as the brain (Sporns, & Betzel, 2016). Brain is thought to operate through functionally distributed neural networks (Zanto & Gazzaley, 2013). Brain's functional connectivity (FC) is thought to be modular in their nature which means that they can appear as dense connected brain areas or regions with scarcer connections. The modules co-localize with different sensory modalities and attentional networks (Sporns, & Betzel, 2016).

Attempts of localizing the brain activity in certain areas stems to the 19th century. Although the structural and functional connectivity are not corresponded in a straightforward manner several approaches have been formed to divide brain to subareas and networks. The different areas of designated brain source spaces are called parcels. An automated parcellation (Figure 3 A) of generally accepted sulco-gyral division, have been built by Destrieux et al. (2010) based on the brain's anatomical reconstruction process of Dale & Fischl (1999). The brain's named and color-coded subsystems (Figure 3 B) by Yeo et al. (2011) were estimated from 1000 participant's brain and illustrate brain areas that are functionally coupled during brain spontaneous activity across subjects. In addition to these, there are tens of other parcellations based on different brain measures and more is being developed for different purposes.



Figure 3. A. Sulco-gyral division of brain's left hemisphere from lateral (side) and medial (inner) pial views (Destrieux, 2010). B. Functional subsystems in left and right hemispheres according to 7-network parcellation (Yeo et al., 2011).

Brain's functional networks important for planning and decision making are dorsal and ventral attentional networks (DAN, VAN) (Corbetta & Shulman, 2002, Posner & Petersen, 1990) as well as the default mode network (DMN). The role of DAN and VAN is thought to be an active part of attentional processing during task execution. Both areas reach to the frontal and parietal brain lobes and are convey information for example towards and away of the visual areas in occipital lobe. The DAN is located more towards the superior direction (the top of the brain) and VAN more towards the medial direction (middle part of the brain). DAN consists of frontal eye fields (FEF) and intraparietal sulcus (IPS). VAN consists of inferior frontal gyrus (IFG), inferior parietal lobe (IPL), middle frontal gyrus (MFG), temporo-parietal junction (TPJ) and superior temporal gyrus (STG). (Vossel et al., 2014) Despite its suggested role in idling, automatic type of processing the DMN has also been related to higher cognitive functioning. DMN has been observed to activate in the processing outside the task execution period for example in planning and decision making. DMN has been linked to visual imagery processing that is partially overlapping with DAN and VAN (Pearson, 2019). DMN consists of medial prefrontal, posterior cingulate and left and right lateral parietal areas.

1.5. Measuring brain activity from humans

Functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) can be used to measure events within second time scales, and it can locate the activation site in the human brains within millimetres. fMRI measures the changes in blood oxygenation levels which is increased during task performance. They can hence be used to give direction in analysing the most probable activation sites.

Electro encephalography (EEG) measures brain's electric activations from the surface of the scalp. The source of the measured EEG signal emanates from the activated postsynaptic receptors in widespread pyramidal cells (See above Figure 1.) that have suitable perpendicular orientation towards the skull for measuring its signal. (Singh, 2014, Hämäläinen & Hari, 2002) Spatial resolution is 7-10 mm in EEG. (Singh, 2014)

The electrical signalling in brain generates very small magnetic fields that can be measured with magnetoencephalography (MEG). The brain's magnetic fields arise from current flow in the pyramidal cell's dendrites. Unlike in EEG measurements where the activation source is suppressed by the skull, in MEG the magnetic fields are not interfered by skull's structures. MEG is measured with highly sensitive magnetism detectors called SQUIDS (super conducting quantum interference device). The magnetic fields are captured with gradiometers and magnetometers that send the signal to the device's helmet of SQUID sensors array. The temporal resolution of MEG is close to sub millisecond and has a spatial resolution 2-3 mm. (Singh, 2014, Hämäläinen & Hari, 2002)

1.5.1. Neuronal activity can be recorded with electrophysiology

In electrophysiological recordings the brain activity is characterized by rhythmicity in all spatial scales from single neurons to global neuronal populations. The neuronal oscillations reflect fluctuations in neuronal excitability. Oscillatory activity can be measured from at least 10^5 active group of synapses. Oscillations act as temporal filters in dynamically organizing brain's processing. A wide range of frequencies from 0.05-500 Hz have been recorded in mammalian brain (Buzsáki, et al., 2004). Oscillations have been divided to delta (1-3 Hz), theta (3-5 Hz), alpha (8-15 Hz), beta (15-30 Hz) and gamma (30 - 120 Hz) bands. They can be characterized in frequency, amplitude, and phase.

Delta (δ) band has been found to reflect behavioural inhibition as well as attention and motivation. Theta (θ) band reflects behavioural inhibition and have been found to be suppressed through gating when working memory is no longer needed for maintaining information. (Raghavachari, et al., 2001) θ activity has also been linked to working memory maintenance and retrieval in episodic encoding. (Hsieh, et al., 2014) θ have been linked to increasing cognitive control processes in error related situations. Cohen et al., (2009) have recorded increased θ power after error.

The role of alpha (α) band oscillations has traditionally been linked to the sensory suppression in active memory processes. has also been observed to strengthen during imaginary and mental calculation processes and in maintaining of working memory. (Ray & Cole, 1985, Klimesch, 1996) More recently, the role of oscillations has been predicted to play a role in top-down processing in executive functioning. According to the active-processing hypothesis, the phase dynamics could reflect the neural coordination of task-relevant cortical areas. (Palva & Palva, 2011) Correlated suppression of amplitudes and phase-synchronization have been linked to implementation of visuospatial attention in frontal, parietal, and visual cortexes. (Lobier, et al., 2018) Alternative hypothesis is that increased reflects the pulsed inhibition of task-irrelevant areas (Jensen & Mazaheri, 2010). Thus, the suppression of unnecessary sensory information during complex cognitive processes might also serve as a role for functioning of oscillations has been linked to inhibition of distracting information in working memory (Bonnefond & Jensen, 2013).

Referred as event-related desynchronization (ERD) (i.e., the decreasing of oscillatory activity), the suppression of beta (β) band has been linked to the motor planning activity at various brain areas in motor network. Furthermore, Tzagarakis et al. (2010) have proposed that the ERD of the β band may also be linked to the response uncertainty in motor planning. Schmidt et al., (2019) hypothesize that the clearing out of WM could have a "counterpart in the post movement clear-out of the motor plan in sensorimotor cortex". Persevering cognitive state as well as top-down processing, and long-range communication has also been linked to β band. Spitzer and Haegens (2017) have proposed that the β band could reflect decision-making process in reactivating task relevant information. Enhanced β has also been linked to impaired cognitive flexibility and control. (Engel & Fries, 2010)

Gamma (γ) oscillations are often seen during active processing of different stimuli. The γ band activation may reflect attentional selection and memory processes. γ could be a fundamental computational mechanism that allow and support fast brain processing (Fries et al., 2007). In impaired learning and memory, the low γ oscillations are reduced. (Mably & LeeColgin, 2018) γ band

oscillations have also been found to support the maintenance of feature-specific information and might take part to binding feature characteristics during the formation of memory representations (Honkanen, et al., 2015).

1.6. Aberrant brain structure and function in ADHD

1.6.1. Structural abnormalities in ADHD

Sometimes, EF abnormalities in brain have been simply referred as a frontal dysfunction. This understanding has been formed from early studies where lesions in frontal areas were found to cause executive dysfunctions. More recently, the frontal dysfunction theories have been revisited to include a diverse connectivity from the frontal areas to other brain regions. (Miyake, et al., 2000, Godefroy, et al., 1999) Miller and Cohen (2001) have been proposing a prefrontal model of executive functions where cognitive control is temporally organized.

Structural changes have been found in grey and white matter volumes (Francx et al., 2016, Batty et al., 2010). Anatomical structure studies have found reduced white matter volume from the right frontal and posterior regions of the brain, as well as caudate asymmetry differences in ADHD children. As the posterior brain areas are related to information access from previous situations and the frontal part in applying this information to the present moment, the reduced white matter volume might result in communication problems between these brain regions. In a 33-year follow up study of adults with ADHD, grey matter was decreased in right caudate, right thalamus, and bilateral cerebellar hemispheres. (Proal et al., 2011) The cerebral cortex in various sites was also found thinner in these individuals. Reduced frontoparietal structures have been reported in children with ADHD measured with diffusion tensor imaging (Nagel, 2011). These findings could predict problems in executive functions that demand the efficient functioning of fronto-parietal regions.

1.6.2. Functional abnormalities in ADHD

Task related contextual information is sent from sensory areas to the prefrontal cortex. Frontal lobe is seen as the fundamental area in executive functions where information from various posterior brain areas is integrated. Aberrant communication between brain's hemispheres and dysfunction in neuronal oscillation patterns has been found in ADHD. The individuals with ADHD could have problems in accessing previously learned information and/or applying the knowledge in new situations. These findings support the proposition that sustained attention could be impaired in children with ADHD and could point to the direction of impaired self-regulation and executive functioning.

A yet to be defined theory of primary visual cortex and its relation to attentional dysfunction in ADHD has been proposed. Visual network asymmetry and default mode function has been found in and fMRI study on children with ADHD (Hale, et al., 2014). In executive tasks that need inhibition, working memory and attentional regulation, hyper activation in occipital areas have been demonstrated in adults with ADHD in several fMRI studies. (Castellanos & Proal, 2012)

The frontal striatal circuits are often related to the interplay of prefrontal cortex and subcortical areas like striatum and thalamus in these kinds of behaviours. In functional neuroimaging studies the frontal striatal network abnormalities have been linked to ADHD (for a review see Bush et al., 2011). Dorsal attentional network (DAN) has been found to be impaired in ADHD. In previous human and animal studies, FEF and IPS has been related to the top-down mechanisms of attention, memory, and eye movements (Corbetta et al, 2002). ADHD has been linked to dysfunctions in the default mode network, and frontoparietal subsystem.

2. Purpose of the study

The main objectives of this thesis were to study the neural underpinnings of planning period in group of adults with ADHD and healthy control group using Wisconsin card sorting test in ADHD and a control group. Only few previous studies have been conducted in the planning time period of the WCST, but the cognitive processes investigated have most often been referred as preparatory processes. Clinical questionnaires are used to assess the symptoms and types of ADHD.

- 1. The first objective was to reveal whether behavioural measures would differ in the control and ADHD groups.
- 2. The second objective was to investigate local oscillation amplitude dynamics associated with planning period in WCST.
- The third objective was to find out the aberrant local oscillation amplitude dynamics associated with planning period in WCSR un adult ADHD patients and whether this differed from the control group.

The hypothesis is that the local neural activity would be different specifically in the frontal and parietal cortex.

3. Methods

3.1. Participant demographics and recruitment

The volunteer participant groups consisted of a group of 21 adults diagnosed with ADHD (age distribution 37.6±10 years, 10 males) and age-matched 27 controls (age distribution 33±10 years, 11 females) with normal or corrected-to-normal vision. The control participants had to be free of any neurological or psychiatric conditions and free of medications affecting central nervous system. Criteria for both participant groups were that they are not pregnant or have any metal in their bodies. The criterion for the ADHD group participants was an adult ADHD diagnosis from a medical doctor. Whether the participant had medication, was reported only for 14/21 participants in the ADHD group. Five participants out of the 14 participants were reported to have medication. No information regarding taken medications in the measurement day was collected.

3.2. Recordings

Magnetoencephalography (MEG) was used to measure brain activity during the Wisconsin card sorting test performance. The MEG measurements were conducted with a 306-channel MEG device (Elekta Neuromag Ltd, Helsinki) in the Meilahti hospital premises in Helsinki, Finland. The MEG data were filtered with 0.03–330 Hz band bass with a sampling rate of 1000 Hz. During the MEG recordings, each participant's blinks, and vertical eye movements as well as horizontal eye movements were measured with electro oculography (EOG). Head position changes were measured with fibre optic response device that is used to respond by lifting a finger and held in one hand.

In addition, whole head magnetic resonance images (MRIs) were taken for anatomical reconstruction of MED data using Siemens Verio 3T MRI Scanner with resolution of one cubic millimetre.

3.3. Stimuli and experimental paradigms

In Wisconsin card sorting test, the task is to sort a defined number of cards by different rules to certain target cards. In the current version the participants were not able to predict the start of a new rule since each sorting rule was repeated between four and six trials. Barcelo et al., (2002) and Periáñez et al., (2006) have demonstrated that the reaction times or physiological measures did not change after fourth trial inside a rule-series. The sorting rules had three categories: shape, colour, or the number of shapes. The different shapes are circle, star, cross, triangle, colours are blue, yellow, red, green and there can be 1-4 shapes in one card. In the example picture below (Figure 4. A.), the possible sorting rule could be colour yellow, shape star or number one. The participants received a feedback after every response with a cross located between the card rows. Red cross indicated incorrect and green cross indicated correct response. During the rest of the task, the feedback cross stayed white. The rules were unambiguous, which means that only one possible sorting category would be considered correct. The experiment consisted of 450 trials divided to three blocks. One block consisted of 150 trials. The stimuli were run in Presentation environment. Video settings in Presentation were a refresh rate of 60 Hz and image resolution of 600 x 800. The test was shown on a screen in front of the participants. The screen was 1,5 meters away from the participants. The image measures were width: 58 cm and height: 44. 3 cm. Screen brightness was 16 Hz.



4 A

4 B

Figure 4. Example of what the participant sees in one trial (4. A). Task timeline (4. B) with two trials, starting from stimulus.



Figure 5. WCST timeline where triggers are visualized in their real timescales.

The task timeline is demonstrated in figure 4. B and 5. The stimulus onset asynchrony (SOA) were between 6150-6650 milliseconds. Inter-stimulus interval was 3650-4050 milliseconds. One trial consisted of stimulus (2500 ms), delay (1500 ms), feedback (150 ms) and planning (1900-2300 ms). The participant was allowed to respond during stimulus or the delay. Baseline was the last 500 ms of the delay. The experiment lasted approximately 45 minutes with three 15-minute blocks.

3.4. Procedure

Both groups were asked to fill a consent form of voluntary participation. The research was approved by the Helsinki university hospital ethical committee and was carried out according to the Declaration of Helsinki. Neuropsychological testing was done on a separate occasion from the brain imaging session, at Neuroscience centre, in Viikki Helsinki. Two clinical questionnaires, the Barratt Impulsiveness Scale (BIS) and Adult ADHD Self-Report-Scale (ASRS-v1.1) were completed. ASRS is a tool for helping the symptom assessment for adult ADHD diagnosis following the DSM-IV criteria. BIS is a measurement tool for assessing impulsiveness traits. The traits are "attentional (impulsive decision making), motor (propensity to engage in spontaneous behaviour) and non-planning (lack of concern for the consequences of one's future actions)" (Patton, Stanford, Barratt, 1995). BIS test results were missing from three controls and four ADHD participants, ASRS results were missing from one ADHD participant and three controls. In addition, the ADHD group completed the Brown Attention Deficit Disorder Scales (BADDS) that measures activation, attention, effort, affect and memory. The BADDS results were missing from one participant. The brain measurements were carried out in the Meilahti hospital premises. To avoid disturbances in the MEG measurements, the participants were instructed to remove all metal they are wearing for example belts and jewellery. After this, the task was shortly rehearsed. Next, the participants were then seated for the digitization of head coordinates with a 3D measurement device. During the head coordinates measurement, participants were instructed not to move. Then, the head position and grounding coils were attached on the participant according to the landmarks in left forehead, left mastoid, right mastoid, right forehead, and middle forehead.

The participant was ready to be directed to the shielded MEG measurement room. Participant was seated under the MEG device and the seat was adjusted in the correct position so that participant was close to the MEG helmet. The position of the participants was adjusted between the blocks if necessary. This was done to ensure as good measurement results as possible since people tend to change their position farther away from the MEG device during the measurements. The response device was handed to the participant, and they were allowed to decide the response hand. They responded with four fingers: thumb, index finger and middle finger and could choose between pinkie or ring finger. Participants were given further instructions about the task, and they were told that each series would start with one-minute resting state when the participant should just relax. They were also told they could discontinue the task at any point by saying they wish to stop. Participants were given a chance to rest and stretch out between the blocks. Participants were instructed to blink as little as possible and to stay as still as possible. Participants were informed that they could communicate with the researcher though a microphone attached near them and that the lights would be dimmed so that the stimulus screen would be seen better. The measurement was ready to start, and the stimulus screen was brought in front of the participant.

4. Analysis

4.1. Behavioural analysis

For behavioural analysis scripts, Python programming environment was used with MNE package for handling event files that included reaction times and information about correct and incorrect responses. Performance on the behavioural level was examined with reaction times (RT) and hit rates (HR). Reaction time means the time between stimulus onset and the response. Reaction times were calculated for each trial and the mean RT for each participant. The mean RTs for each participant were then visualized in Python with Seaborn package. Mean reaction times for each group were then examined and a two tailed t-test for two samples was used to see if there was a significant difference between the ADHD and control group. The mean group RTs were then plotted in violin plots with Seaborn. The reaction times were also scatter plotted with the clinical questionnaire scores for the ADHD group. Hit rate means the percent of correct responses for each participant out of all trials they completed. Hit rates were then visualized on individual level with Seaborn. The mean hit rates between the two groups were compared with two tailed t-test for two samples assuming unequal variance. Then, the mean hit rates were plotted with violin plot for visualization.

4.2. MEG and MRI data analysis

For the local neuronal dynamics, a pipeline of data analysis was used to find out the contrast of trials in the planning stage with previous feedback being correct divided from the trials of planning stage with previous feedback being incorrect both within and between the groups. In practice it meant the trials where the rule was maintained were subtracted from the trials where the rule was switched by the participant. The MEG and MRI data analyses were done on Labview environment with the Palva lab member's self-customized tools, Excel, Matlab, Python programming environments. Open-source softwares, Linux based MNE (Gramford, et al., 2014) and Freesurfer (Fischl, 2012) packages. Before starting the analyses, the consistency of raw data and possible bad channels were inspected by eye. Five participants had to be excluded due to missing MRI scans (1), excessive noise in the data (3) or missing measurement sets (1). Maxfiltering and temporal signal space separation (tSSS) was done on the MEG data in MNE Python package. Maxfiltering and tSSS aim to erase the extracranial (outside the head) noise from the data, to fix head position changes during the measurements, and to automatically detect bad channels from the data. (Taulu & Kajola, 2005. Taulu & Simola, 2006) One bad channel, 1013, was marked and interpolated. Head position changes over 10 mm were excluded from the raw data. In Labview and Matlab environments the data was filtered further. Independent component analysis (ICA) was used to erase detected vertical and horizontal eye movements as well as cardiac originating noise. Bad components such as flatpower spectrum, correlation coefficient with EOG channels, and cardiac-like events were looked for and deleted from the data. Next, the raw event analysis parameters were set. This created raw event files including information about measurement signal, eye movements, responses, trigger events and channels in the data. Then, event files were created, and each trial was given multiple describing tags that included reaction times, responses, feedback information about the current and previous trials and about the timing of blinks related to feedback triggers. The event files are needed for relating the events to the certain time points in the data-analysis.

MRI scan data was analysed alongside with the MEG data. The magnetic resonance images scanned from each participant were analysed for source modelling and anatomical reconstruction. Source modelling is the process of estimating the brain's most probable activity sites. Then, an anatomical model can be reconstructed with the information from both, MEG and MRI measurements. Freesurfer (Fischl, 2012) was used for anatomical reconstruction of the MRIs to create brain's surface files for each participant. Python package MNE was then used with Freesurfer to provide the files for source modelling were done by utilizing the Freesurfer Destrieux atlas (Destrieux, Fischl, Dale & Halgren, 2010). The MRI-MEG signal spaces distributed in the cortex, were corregistered. Using minimum norm estimates, single-layer boundary element conductivity models for the inner surface of the skull and source models for source recreation, were computed.

Next, forward operators were computed with MNE. Noise covariance matrix (NCM) was made in Freesurfer. The purpose of NCM is to give estimates of errors in the measurement channels and from noise originating outside of the skull. One-minute resting state from the beginning of all three measurement blocks were used for NCM. To solve the inverse problem of neuronal activity, an inverse model was then created for each filter by combining NCM and the forward model using minimum norm estimates. Trials data was formed, and cortex was flattened so that they could be combined by source collapsing. Morlet wavelet filtering (m = 5) was used to bring out time related changes in the cut time windows of the activation sources and vertices. Trials data represent filtered and optionally inverse modelled single trials that are cut according to the defined events. The time window for these events was 1.4 seconds before and 4 seconds after the target event commence.

Amplitudes were computed from time window -1.4-4 seconds from the target event onset. These time windows and frequency windows ranging from 3.31-143 Hz were collapsed into 400 parcels. One patch responding approximately 40-200 m² activated synaptic cortical areas. To enhance source reconstruction in the individual level, fidelity optimized sparse weighed collapse operators were used (Korhonen et al, 2014). For each participant the mean oscillation amplitude information consisted of 400 parcels, 105 time windows, 38 frequencies in two task conditions.

18

Then, statistical analyses were conducted within and between groups. Two-tailed non-parametric group statistics with Wilcoxon signed rank test were calculated in Labview for both groups separately. The data was morphed from 400 parcel patches into 200 parcel patches. Between groups comparison for correct-incorrect was calculated with Welch's t-test with 400 parcel patch. The mean signal of the baseline period was subtracted from the data. This was done to extract the information in the data that was not the target of interest here. False-discovery rate (FDR) predictions for each time and frequency window were removed in the level of = 0.05.

For the analysis window (Figure 6.), which was the planning period of WCST, a contrast was calculated between previous trial's feedback being correct and incorrect for all time-frequency windows. This was done to investigate the amplitudes that are left in the planning period when previous trial's feedback was correct and is subtracted from the planning periods when the previous trial's feedback was incorrect.



Figure 6. Analysis window of the planning stage related to previous feedback's correct or incorrect information.

Q-value (0.065) was estimated and only values above this threshold were visualized. Then, the contrasts were visualized as time-frequency representations (TFR). The fraction of parcels in the selected time-frequency periods that show positively significant proportions compared with all parcels, was visualized with TFR's. Then, visualization of the brain's flattened surface and further the brain's 3-D model, was done in Labview. For the ADHD group the latencies and frequencies in 3D model were limited to 0.25-1.25 seconds and 9.8-37.8 Hz since this time-frequency window had been found to have the positive proportion of the activation we were interested to inspect. For the control group the range was from 0.3-1.02 seconds and frequencies between 8.14-42.5 Hz. For

between groups comparison the TFR was visualized in time-frequency window of 0.4-1.7 seconds and 3-10 Hz.

5. Results

5.1. Behavioural results

Two tailed t-test for two samples assuming equal variances (F=.89) was used to compare the group values of reaction times between ADHD (M = 1.21, SD = 0.20) and control (M = 1.14, SD = 0.21) group. No significant difference (t (46) = 1.13, p = 0.26) was found for RTs between the ADHD and control group (Table 1., Figure 8). For the hit rates two tailed t-test for two samples assuming unequal variances (F = .57) was used to compare the group values of reaction times between ADHD (M = 0.57, SD = 0.07) and control (M = 0.59, SD = 0.09) group. No significant difference (t (46) = - 0.78, p = 0.44) was found for the hit rates between the groups (Table 1., Figure 9). The clinical score scatter plots did not reveal a grouping of the observations that would point to the direction of a relationship between reaction times and the clinical scores within ADHD group (Figure 10).

	Controls			ADHD	
	Mean reaction time (s)	Hit rate (%)		Mean reaction time (s)	Hit rate (%)
S0001	1,6	67	P0001	1,4	59
S0003	1,4	67	P0002	1,4	58
S0005	0,9	66	P0003	1,3	63
S0006	1,3	45	P0004	1,3	54
S0008	0,9	63	P0005	1,4	41
S0036	1,3	53	P0006	1,4	53
S0038	1	61	P0007	1	58
S0039	1	59	P0008	1,3	62
S0049	1,2	59	P0009	1,3	58
S0113	1,3	57	P0011	1,1	51
S0115	0,9	68	P0012	1,5	47
S0116	1,1	39	P0015	1,1	59
S0117	0,8	69	P0016	1,1	58
S0118	0,9	72	P0018	1,4	50
S0119	1	67	P0019	1	62
S0120	1,3	51	P0020	1,5	48
S0121	1	59	P0021	1,1	59
S0123	1,6	43	P0022	1	65
S0124	1	67	P0024	1	63
S0126	1,3	49	P0025	0,8	70
S0127	1,2	59	P0028	1	61
S0128	0,9	65			
S0129	1,2	64			
S0130	1,3	51			

Table 1. Mean reaction times (s) and hit rates (%), presented for controls (S before participant number) and ADHD (P before participant number).



Figure 7. A. Reaction time violin plot for ADHD and control groups. B. Reaction time (s) bar plot for every participant.



Figure 8.A. Comparison of hit rates in violin plot for ADHD and control groups. B. Hit rate (%) bar plot for each participant.



Figure 9. Scatter plots for BIS-RT, BADDS-RT, ASRS (A- Inattentive)-RT, ASRS(B-Hyperactive-Impulsive)-RT among the ADHD group.

5.2. Oscillation amplitude results

To investigate how local oscillation amplitudes were modulated in planning stage during task-rule maintaining we compared stay trials with switch trials in previous feedback information (see Fig. 6) for all analysed frequencies (3-140 Hz). We found out that oscillation amplitudes were greater for control group in α and β bands than the ADHD group. The between groups comparison revealed greater suppression in delta, theta, and alpha band amplitude for the ADHD group. In figure 10, the panels A-C are time-frequency representations (TFR) of the analysis time-window in all analysed frequencies. Panels D and E are the source-reconstructed models on inflated brain showing the positive fraction and panel F, the negative fraction of the significant parcel proportions. The time-frequency window used in visualizations for panels D-E is shown in dashed boxes in panels A-C.



Figure 10. All three TFRs (panels A, B, C) include amplitudes of all analysed frequencies (3.12-140 Hz) in the time window from -0.15 seconds to 2 seconds before and after the planning stage. In the TFRs brackets, oscillations from δ (1-3 Hz), θ (3-5 Hz), (8-15 Hz), β (15-30 Hz) and y frequencies (30 - 120 Hz) are seen and marked. Offset of the feedback is marked to see when the feedback cross turned white. All panels are contrasts in the planning stage's two conditions of stay-switch in the full time-frequency window (A-C) and limited time-frequency window (D-F). Panels D, E, and F are the modelled visualization of brain's inflated surface in planning period with previous trial's stay-switch. In the A-F panels are time-frequency windows of significant positive fraction (P+) and negative fraction (P-) of activation out of all analysed parcels. Each panel D-F present the left and right hemispheres from lateral and medial view. The colours in the colour scales of the red and blue mean the value of the fraction of positive and negative significant proportion of parcels from all parcels. The dashed box in each TFR in panel A-C are visualized in their neighbouring panels D-F. A: The control group TFR. P+ is seen from α to β band activity and P- of sustained δ and θ oscillations to low α band oscillations. **B:** The ADHD group TFR. The green area is an overlap of significant positive and negative fractions. The ADHD group shows P+ in the β band as well as P- of sustained activity in the δ and θ bands. C: The TFR of between groups comparison of ADHD-Controls show P- in the δ , θ , and α frequencies. **D**: The control group modelled inflated brain surface. Brain visualization for positive proportion of parcels out of all parcels in timefrequency window of 8-40 Hz and 0.3-1.02 s for. Lateral and medial activity is seen in both hemispheres, with the greatest fraction values centered to the prefrontal and parietal areas. Significant proportions of positive parcels are also seen in the occipital and temporal lobes. E: The ADHD group modelled inflated brain surface. P+ in 10-35 Hz, 0.25-1.25 s. The positive proportion of parcels (p+) compared to all parcels with darkest red representing the strongest activation. Oscillations in β band P- from 11-3 Hz, 0.4-1.7 s. Oscillations seen in δ , θ and α . Parcels (P-) are linked to somatomotor, ventral and dorsal, default mode and frontotemporal systems. F: The between group modelled inflated brain surface. Difference for the planning stage contrasts from 3-10 Hz in 0.4-1.7 seconds in the lateral view. The greater activity in the significant negative fraction (P-) of parcels is seen in the right hemisphere's temporal lobe and inferior frontal lobe. P- is also seen in the occipital, frontal, and parietal areas.

5.2.1. Increased α and β and suppressed δ , θ bands in frontal, regions during WCST planning in control group

In Figure 10. panel A, a sustained suppressed P- in delta (δ) and theta (θ) can be seen from the commence of the feedback at 0 seconds and throughout the planning period. Significant positive fractions of parcels out of all parcels in alpha (α) and beta (β) oscillation amplitudes in frontal, parietal, temporal, occipital cortex were seen in the control group (Figure 10 D) with a duration of 0.7 seconds. The P+ in the control group were in the parietal areas in right and left paC (paracentral lobule and sulcus), left poCS (posterior central sulcus), poCG (posterior central gyrus) and CS (central sulcus). All these sites have been related to the somatomotor network. The areas related to the default mode network had significant positively activated parcels in left sFG (superior frontal sulcus) in frontal cortex and prCN (precuneus) in parietal cortex. The areas previously related to the dorsal attentional network was represented by P+ activations in left sprCS (precentral supplemental sulcus) in frontal cortex and sPG (parietal supplemental gyrus) related to visual network. Activity in left and right lobes were also seen in areas related the frontal/parietal and ventral attention networks. The parcels with greatest P+ amplitudes were mostly in the lateral left hemisphere and left and right medial areas.

5.2.2. Increased frontal and parietal β oscillations during WCST planning in ADHD group

In Figure 10. panel B, a sustained suppressed P- in δ and θ can be seen after the commence of the feedback at 0 seconds and throughout the planning period. The sustained δ and θ activity is slightly greater than in the control group throughout the analysis time window. The significant positive fractions of parcels in the ADHD group were seen in the β band in frontal and parietal cortex for one second. The significant positive fractions in the frontal lobe related to somatomotor network were seen in the in right prCG (precentral gyrus), CS and right lateral CS and prCG. The parietal lobe areas related to somatomotor network had P+ activations in right paC, dorsolateral and ventromedial poCG. The activity in region related to the dorsal attentional network had P+ activation in left sprCS (precentral supplemental sulcus). P+ activity in the left Cla (anterior cingulate gyrus and sulcus) was observed. This area does not have an assigned brain network in the Destrieux parcellation that was used. ADHD group also had activations in the default mode network in left and right sFS (frontal supplemental sulcus) and prCN. Areas in left and right lobes related to

frontal/parietal and ventral attention networks had positive significant activity as well. Activity was distributed to lateral and medial left and right lobes.

5.2.3. Δ , θ , and α suppression in frontal, parietal, and temporal areas greater in ADHD compared to controls

The between groups comparison of ADHD-controls in stay-switch trials revealed significant differences. The significant negative proportion of parcels out of all parcels when baseline was subtracted are seen in frontal and posterior areas. Significant negative fraction of parcels in right sTG (temporal supplemental gyrus), iFGorb (frontal inferior orbital gyrus), sTS (temporal supplemental sulcus), laShz (temporal middle gyrus), mFG (medial frontal gyrus) and acolS (collateral anterior transverse sulcus). Significant negative fraction of parcels in the left hemisphere's iINS (circular inferior insular sulcus) and CS were seen. A significant negative fraction related to visual network in the right hemisphere's mOS (occipital middle sulcus) was observed.

6. Discussion

Measuring brain with MEG has many advantages and challenges. The non-invasive MEG is a costeffective brain recording method with excellent temporal and good spatial resolution. Compared with fMRI where the slowness of the hemodynamic activity causes an overlap on the "cue and target period" (Brass & von Cramon, 2004) MEG is more suitable for measuring fast cognitive processes. In MEG the recorded magnetic fields are not interfered by skull's structures which makes the analysis more straightforward than EEG analyses. As in any research, many details must be considered from the initiation of the task design until the interpretation and conclusions of the results. Challenges in MEG research arise for example in measurements, modelling of the brain structure, and analysing the data. To analyse the neuronal data measured with a device susceptible to detecting macroscopic currents of the brain, it is important to filter the data during the measurements and in several stages of the analysis. Filtering during the measurement is done to cut out noise from the data and to increase the signal to noise ratio. Careful source modelling is needed as well as using justifiable statistical analyses. To understand executive functions in structural and functional network levels, brain activity measured with MEG has been found to be a suitable method.

6.1. No significant differences in reaction times, hit rates or clinical questionnaire scores found between ADHD and control group

The previous studies show individual and group differences in the behavioural measures of WCST. Individuals with neurocognitive disorders have been reported to make more errors in the test. The participants might perseverate to incorrect strategies or be unable to switch to previously incorrect category. Some previous studies have shown significant differences in the hit rates in both adults and children with ADHD compared with control groups.

Periáñez et al. (2006) reported that the children with ADHD were not slower in their responses but made more mistakes in the test. In some WCST studies of children with ADHD the reaction times have been showing contrasting results compared to control group reaction times. In the present thesis behavioural measurements did not show significant differences between adults with ADHD and the control group. The reaction times were not correlated with clinical questionnaire scores. No significant differences was observed in hit rates or reaction times between the ADHD and control groups. In this thesis the anticipatory responses were counted as correct. Whether the anticipatory responses are correct or incorrect, is unclear since the participant might have guessed the new correct sorting rule. However, some participants were seen to learn the correct rule based on anticipated response. It remains unstudied, if the learning of rule from the anticipatory response differed between the ADHD and control group. Anticipatory responses have been found to arise in the randomized series length studies since the participant does not know what the next correct rule will be. In the fixed rule series the next correct category could be also guessed by comparing to the previous correct rule categories. It remains unclear what causes the differences in the significance of behavioural measures in WCST for participants with normal and abnormal brain structure and function.

6.2. Less activated sites in prefrontal, parietal and occipital areas in the ADHD group than the control group during planning in WCST

The positive fraction of parcels of ADHD and control groups in the contrast of planning with previously correct and planning with previously incorrect feedback. The top-down neural control and supervisory signalling, that are necessity for executive functions, has been demonstrated in humans and in non-human primates. The supervision from the prefrontal cortex over sub circuitries

i.e., various cortical and sub-cortical areas, during goal-driven behaviours has been reported. FMRI studies using WCST to investigate set-shifting and cognitive flexibility have found activations in antero-dorsal PFC (Nagahama et al., 2001), dorsolateral PFC, temporal, and parietal cortices (Berman et al., 1995), left posterior frontal area and inferior cingulate cortex (Catafau et al., 1998), posterior-ventral PFC (Nagahama et al., 2001). PET study of Lombardi et al., (1999) found activation in right dorsolateral frontal–subcortical circuit. Different areas previously related to brain's functional networks contributing to executive functions are seen in the results. Both groups showed activations in brain areas related the dorsal attentional network. Activation of right and left supplemental precentral sulcus, also known as frontal eye fields, had stronger activation in the ADHD than control group. This may point to the direction that ADHD group has compensatory processing in the dorsal attentional system. It remains to be found for the future studies, which of the brain's functional networks are contributing to the planning period of this study.

Precuneus has been found to have an important contribution to the default mode network's functioning. (Utevsky, et al., 2014). A memory-based "autopilot role" has been suggested for the default mode system during automated decision making. (Vatansever, et al., 2017) The default mode network has also been linked to encode task-relevant information. In the current study the ADHD group do not show as strong activation in the areas related to the DMN as the control group. The lack of activity in ADHD group in left precuneus and other default mode areas, could point to a direction of impairment in autopilot memory process as well as encoding task-relevant information. An imbalance between DMN and task-positive networks has been observed in ADHD (Sonuga-Barke and Castellanos, 2007) and could mean that this mechanism might explain the less activated DMN areas than in the control group.

In previous studies, brain's prefrontal cortex and sensory areas have been linked to the executive functions. Left somatomotor cortex hyperactivation has been viewed in schizophrenia during proactive response inhibition. (Wertz, 2019) In the present study, the activity related to the somatomotor network was centered in the right hemisphere for ADHD group and slightly more to left hemisphere for the control group. This may point to a direction that the ADHD group process information differently than controls and that the processing is right-hemisphere centric. This study revealed many brain sites related to inhibitory processes in both ADHD and the control group. The results pointed to the direction that there might be an inhibitory mechanism underlying the planning stage in the Wisconsin card sorting test. Both groups showed activations in areas related

to the motor inhibitory control and other inhibitory processes. It could be that the participants were preparing for the inhibition of prepotent responding or that these detected areas would serve also for cognitive inhibition and not motor inhibition only. However, interpreting the role of different brain areas related to functional networks in this study should remain in the hypothetical level since the current analysis type of oscillation amplitudes is not suitable for interpreting the connections of the brain's oscillatory activity.

There are several previous studies about planning during the Tower of London/Hanoi, Porteus Mazes and Rey–Osterreith Complex Figure Test of ADHD groups. However, these tests do not demand decision making and planning processes in fast-paced manner. Nevertheless, results of fMRI and PET studies of the London Tower show prefrontal and parietal (lateral prefrontal cortex, premotor cortex, cuneus, caudate nucleus, cingulate cortex, supramarginal gyrus) activity during planning is unified with the current study. (Owen et al., 1995, Dagher et al., 1999, Morris et al., 1993). It must be remembered that these tests or brain measurement methods are great at giving a direction of activated sites but cannot be interpreted to represent fully same phenomena. This is due to the fMRI's slowness in the hemodynamic activation and the unsuitable cognitive tests for measuring fast planning.

In WCST, accessing information of previously learned rules is necessary for an effective performance. Posterior brain areas have been linked to accessing previous information. Frontal areas apply the information conveyed from posterior areas to form a cohesive picture of the current task situation. The clear difference in the activated frontal, parietal and occipital sites between the ADHD and control group could point to impaired cognitive processing in the ADHD group. The ADHD group had the strongest activity in the frontal brain areas and the control group had the strongest activity in the information of previous information is conveyed from the parietal parts to the frontal regions in ADHD group, but for some reason this process is unable to reach the occipital areas.

Ability to shift attention from one demand to another during WCST is closely related to decision making and planning processes. Set shifting has often been investigated during stimulus presentation. In the Buchsbaum et al. (2005), meta-analysis, on the WCST stimulus presentation, activity was seen in lateral prefrontal cortex, anterior cingulate cortex, and inferior parietal lobule. Less robust activities were reported in the opercular region of the ventral prefrontal cortex, bilaterally. Interestingly, Barcelo et al. (2003) have proposed that, the set-shifting would take place

30

in the feedback period and after feedback, rather than in the stimulus presentation stage. In the stimulus presentation stage, the rules would be rehearsed but after the feedback period, the rule would be planned and decided on. There are few studies using the Wisconsin card sorting test and assessing its preparatory dimension. In a study by Barcelo et al. (2004), preparatory set-shifting was investigated in healthy young adults. The scope of interest was to look at the "task set reconfiguration processes during the task preparation stage of WCST performance". In practice this stage is after the participants have responded and they are presented with feedback. They reported significant differences between shift (incorrect) and non-shift (correct) feedback in three frontal-parietal network areas, in the anterior portion of the inferior frontal gyrus, the anterior cingulate cortex, and the supramarginal gyrus. In Periáñez, et al. (2004) study on preparatory set-shifting with healthy individuals, the MEG activation was found stronger in shifting than in the non-shifting trials.

It has remained unknown what the dynamical neuronal processes underlying the set maintenance i.e., non-shift trials are in WCST. The current results seem to be in line with previous fMRI studies about set-maintenance where it was located to the medial superior frontal gyrus (Wilk, Ezekiel & Morton, 2012) and in the dual-network model of Dosenbach et al., (2008), to anterior, cingulate, and insular cortices. Some studies however propose that task-set adjustment is related to the above mentioned parts of the brain. (Botvinick et al., 2001; Ridderinkhof et al., 2004; Seeley et al., 2007, Menon and Uddin, 2010; Seeley et al., 2007)

6.3. Differing θ , δ , α and β oscillations during WCST planning period between ADHD and control groups

Oscillations in prefrontal cortex (PFC) and posterior brain areas differ in ADHD and control groups during WCST in planning period in previously correct compared to planning with previously incorrect feedback. Aberrant modulation of oscillations has been linked to ADHD throughout the individual's development. The control group's results show oscillation activations for shorter period of time (0.7 s) in more varied oscillation bands (8-40 Hz) than the ADHD group (1 s, 10-35 Hz). This faster modulation of the neuronal activity could point toward a more efficient planning process in the control group. Therefore, it may that inefficient processing could be proposed for the longer activation in the ADHD oscillations. However, interpreting oscillations and their underlying roles, is usually not so straightforward and future studies and analyses should be conveyed to look at the roles of oscillations more closely for example in the network levels.

In their study on set-shifting measured before feedback onset, González-Hernández et al., (2002) have reported the selectively distributed δ , θ , α , β -2, and gamma oscillations to reflect communication of networks through variable populations of neurons, with functional relations to the working memory and the information processing that subserve the WCST performance. They suggests that the maintenance of set would be related to the trials where set-shifting has occurred. By inspection of previous literature, it remains unclear whether the cognitive processes during WCST can be assigned to a strict timeline. For careful task design, more indicators could be found.

In the between groups comparison in this thesis, suppression in δ , θ and α oscillations were found to be significant. δ and θ oscillations have previously been linked to inhibition. θ band has additionally been connected to cognitive control processes and working memory. In the current thesis the α oscillations showed a decrease for a brief time after the feedback offset. However, it remains unclear whether the whole planning period or some part of it could relate also to the processing of feedback information since the two events occur one after the other. Abnormal lateralization of the α band has been reported in some ADHD studies. In the current study this is not yet revealed and remains unclear if the oscillatory activity in the lateral parietal and temporal cortex is related solely to the α band or also θ and δ oscillations.

The α band's role has two differentiating hypotheses: one for the suppression of irrelevant information during task engagement and one for the active role in processing of task-relevant information. A has been linked to selection and suppression of attention and to working memory maintaining. Klimesch et al., (1996) reported that the strengthening of α activity may relate to working memory processes. In their review, Jensen et al., (2017) reported a decrease in the α band oscillatory activity during visual selective attention in ADHD from many previous studies. In the present work the ADHD group had suppressed α activity in the comparison between groups. The control group had activity in the α band for the whole processing time. The greater activity in the increased α band in the control group could point towards more effective processing in the above-mentioned cognitive processes than the ADHD group.

 β has been related to maintaining the current information and/or to prevent interference from distraction in a working memory (WM) task delay period. The ADHD group showed activation mainly in the β band. The β frequency was greater in low β band in the control group. Within group contrasts of stay-switch showed longer activation of β oscillations in ADHD. This could point to active inhibition and getting rid of old task information of the ADHD group. β band has also been

32

related to maintaining the current information, clearing out previous information, and motor planning. Increased relative β band in prefrontal cortex at the end of a task-trial "when working memory information needs to be erased" has been seen in children with ADHD. Thus, in the present thesis the ADHD group could be concentrating on the clearing out of old information related to the task. Spitzer and Haegens (2017) have proposed that β band could reflect decision-making process in reactivating task relevant information. Activating items in working memory with currently unattended memory has been related to the β . (Rose et al., 2016) In the WCST planning stage, recalling the features of the response cards might be present in the trials where staying with the rule or switching the rule. Increase in θ band power has long been thought as an indicator of aberrant ADHD oscillatory activity. Until recently a measure called the θ - β ratio was thought to serve as a biomarker in ADHD but replicating studies found issues. It was concluded that although some ADHD patients have increased θ - β ratio compared to control groups it did not reach a valid position as a biomarker. (See for a review, Jensen, et al., 2017) Recently, specifically the decline in β band power has been linked to ADHD.

6.4. Limitations

The missing information of medications in ADHD group is one limitation in this study. The education background of the participants in control group was fairly heterogenous which should be controlled in the future studies. Relatively small sample size makes room for the need of further investigations. The results should be further analysed, and the testing replicated in different samples.

7. Conclusions

ADHD affects many people through all age groups, but the subjective diagnostic measures do not strike as enough comprehensive. There are several controversies in the diagnostics and the predictive markers of ADHD. Inattentive symptoms in ADHD have been reported to be most persistent to adulthood whereas hyperactive-impulsive symptoms are sometimes eased coming into adulthood (Swanson et al., 1998, Kessler, et al., 2010). However, attentional, cognitive, and motor impulsivity has been found to characterize adult ADHD (Malloy-Diniz, et al., 2007). The studies of children have found a characterization of ADHD in an inability to sustain attention. It is of importance, to do additional research on different age groups of ADHD and compare their results.

It would also be extremely important to establish a cohesive and more objective diagnostic tradition for ADHD. The future development of the diagnostics should take cognitive dysfunctions into account due to their restricting influences in these individuals' lives. Understanding the brain's functioning could help closer to these goals. ADHD is linked to impairments in different domains of executive functions including planning and decision making. Dysfunctions in planning as well as the inhibition of preparatory processes has been found in ADHD. Medication of ADHD group should be controlled and record in the future studies. It has been found in many studies that some people with ADHD use self-medication in the form of different substances that may boost dopamine levels. Substance use disorder has been linked to ADHD. (Wilens, 2004, Levin et al., 1999) As substance abuse is often correlated with other comorbidities it would be important to consider if this factor should also be controlled in the future studies.

Further scoring of the WCST could be conveyed to see whether behavioural markers such as preservation would show differences between the groups as it has in the previous studies. Scoring should be considered carefully since the randomized series length brings more unexpected situations than in the fixed series length designs. For example, scoring only the 4 first responses could be considered since all series have at least this number of trials. The anticipation trials should also be excluded in future studies. Although there are only a few anticipation trials for for each participant, they are not truly correct since they are always in the first trial of a rule series. In the first trial the participant does not know what the correct rule is so they have gotten the response correct by luck.

Shifting rule categories following an error and maintaining the current rule after correct feedback demand planning and decision making for efficient performance. Brain's many areas are activated during these cognitive processes included in executive functions. Inhibition, shifting, and controlling are needed in maintaining and updating information in the WCST. Periáñez et al. (2006) suggested that the deficits in the task for the ADHD group in the preparatory period, would be related to the impairment of ability to inhibit previous rule and their "capacity to consolidate the attentional 'set'". These executive functions should be further investigated in similar and different fast planning tasks.

Several frequency bands have been thought to maintain the communication between different brain regions. The oscillation activations in planning that might be reflecting the maintaining of the current rule showed a place for possible future studies in ADHD. The findings in oscillatory activities may point to the direction that ADHD group tried to suppress the previous information during the planning in WCST or they could be preparing for response inhibiting. The control group showed more varied oscillatory activations during planning and seemingly more efficient processing. The between groups comparisons will probably shed more light in the WCST planning about the significant differences in neuronal activations in these oscillations. Weaker α oscillations in the ADHD group could tell of impairments in maintaining task-relevant information and working memory processes. Directions towards possible impairment in automated memory processes can also be drawn from the ADHD group's dysfunctioning default mode system. The aberrant modulation of neuronal oscillations is also seen from the current study in the weak beta band and suppressed alpha band, but their actual roles remain unknown.

Finding out the activity in different stages of WCST as well as the dynamic changes can be achieved with further MEG data analyses. The current results in planning period for control group showed more activations in than the ADHD group. This could point to a direction that the ADHD group is concentrating on maintaining the information in working memory that is related to PFC activation rather than preparing for the next stimulus presentation that has been related to the areas posterior from the prefrontal cortex. The previously found communication problems due to structural differences in frontal and posterior brain areas, could be an explanation for some of the differences found in this study for the ADHD group. In the future it would be important to see how the dynamics of activations emerge throughout brain networks. This knowledge could be used to tell which frontal areas the aberrant neuronal mechanisms of the planning processing are using WCST in people with ADHD.

In WCST relevant information must be accessed, and information used in selective and flexible manner during planning and decision making. WCST seems to be a suitable tool to assess fast-paced planning and decision making. The current study's results bring new information of the oscillations during WCST planning stage. The current results show similarities in activated brain areas as in previous studies on brain activity measurements with fMRI, EEG and MEG. The findings of the present thesis are promising and hopefully can aid further investigations. Further study on this data could provide more interesting details of the brain's functional connectivity that could be found out in studying the long-range synchronization of oscillations.

35

References

Adrover-Roig, D., & Barceló, F. (2010). Individual differences in aging and cognitive control modulate the neural indexes of context updating and maintenance during task switching. cortex, 46(4), 434-450.

Ajilore, O., Lamar, M., Leow, A., Zhang, A., Yang, S., & Kumar, A. (2014). Graph theory analysis of cortical-subcortical networks in late-life depression. The American journal of geriatric psychiatry : official journal of the American Association for Geriatric Psychiatry, 22(2), 195–206.

American Psychiatric Association. (2013). Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (5th ed.). Arlington, VA: Author.

Baddeley, A. (1992). Working memory. Science, 255(5044), 556-559.

Baddeley, A. (1996). Exploring the central executive. The Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology Section A, 49(1), 5-28.

Baker, S. C., Rogers, R. D., Owen, A. M., Frith, C. D., Dolan, R. J., Frackowiak, R. S. J., & Robbins, T. W. (1996). Neural systems engaged by planning: a PET study of the Tower of London task. Neuropsychologia, 34(6), 515-526.

Barceló, F., & Knight, R. T. (2002). Both random and perseverative errors underlie WCST deficits in prefrontal patients. Neuropsychologia, 40(3), 349-356.

Barkley, R. A. (2015). History of ADHD. The Guilford Press.

Barkley, R. A., & Peters, H. (2012). The earliest reference to ADHD in the medical literature? Melchior Adam Weikard's description in 1775 of "attention deficit" (Mangel der Aufmerksamkeit, Attentio Volubilis). Journal of attention disorders, 16(8), 623-630.

Barkley, R. A., & Peters, H. (2012). The earliest reference to ADHD in the medical literature? Melchior Adam Weikard's description in 1775 of "attention deficit" (Mangel der Aufmerksamkeit, Attentio Volubilis). Journal of attention disorders, 16(8), 623-630.

Batty, M. J., Liddle, E. B., Pitiot, A., Toro, R., Groom, M. J., Scerif, G., Liotti, M., Liddle, P. F., Paus, T., & Hollis, C. (2010). Cortical gray matter in attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder: a structural magnetic resonance imaging study. Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, 49(3), 229–238.

Batty, M. J., Liddle, E. B., Pitiot, A., Toro, R., Groom, M. J., Scerif, G., ... & Hollis, C. (2010). Cortical gray matter in attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: a structural magnetic resonance imaging study. Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry, 49(3), 229-238.

Berman, K. F., Ostrem, J. L., Randolph, C., Gold, J., Goldberg, T. E., Coppola, R., ... & Weinberger, D. R. (1995). Physiological activation of a cortical network during performance of the Wisconsin Card Sorting Test: a positron emission tomography study. Neuropsychologia, 33(8), 1027-1046.

Bernard J. Baars & Nicole M. Gage. (2013). Chapter 5 - Brain imaging. Fundamentals of Cognitive Neuroscience. 109-140. Academic Press.

Biederman J, Mick E, Faraone SV. Age-dependent decline of symptoms of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: impact of remission definition and symptom type. Am J Psychiatry 2000; 157: 816–8

Biederman, J. (2004). Impact of comorbidity in adults with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Journal of clinical Psychiatry, 65, 3-7.

Blausen.com staff. (2014). Medical gallery of Blausen Medical 2014. WikiJournal of Medicine 1 (2).

Bonnefond, M., & Jensen, O. (2013). The role of gamma and alpha oscillations for blocking out distraction. Communicative & integrative biology, 6(1), e22702.

Brass, M., & Von Cramon, D. Y. (2002). The role of the frontal cortex in task preparation. Cerebral cortex, 12(9), 908-914.

Brikell, I., Kuja-Halkola, R., & Larsson, H. (2015). Heritability of attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder in adults. American Journal of Medical Genetics Part B: Neuropsychiatric Genetics, 168(6), 406-413.

Buchsbaum, B. R., Greer, S., Chang, W. L., & Berman, K. F. (2005). Meta-analysis of neuroimaging studies of the Wisconsin Card-Sorting task and component processes. Human brain mapping, 25(1), 35-45.

Bush, G. (2011). Cingulate, frontal, and parietal cortical dysfunction in attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Biological psychiatry, 69(12), 1160-1167.

Bush, G. (2011). Cingulate, frontal, and parietal cortical dysfunction in attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Biological Psychiatry, 69(12), 1160–1167.

Buzsáki, G. (2004). Large-scale recording of neuronal ensembles. Nature neuroscience, 7(5), 446-451.

Castellanos, F. X., & Proal, E. (2012). Large-scale brain systems in ADHD: beyond the prefrontal–striatal model. Trends in cognitive sciences, 16(1), 17-26.

Catafau, A. M., Parellada, E., Lomeña, F., Bernardo, M., Setoain, J., Catarineu, S., ... & Herranz, R. (1998). Role of the cingulate gyrus during the Wisconsin Card Sorting Test: a single photon emission computed tomography study in normal volunteers. Psychiatry Research: Neuroimaging, 83(2), 67-74.

Chechik, G., Meilijson, I., & Ruppin, E. (1999). Neuronal regulation: A mechanism for synaptic pruning during brain maturation. Neural computation, 11(8), 2061-2080.

Chiaravalloti, N. D., & DeLuca, J. (2003). Assessing the behavioral consequences of multiple sclerosis: an application of the Frontal Systems Behavior Scale (FrSBe). Cognitive and Behavioral Neurology, 16(1), 54-67.

Consenza, R. M. 1998. Fundamentos de Neuroanatomia. 2ª ed. Editora Guanabara Koogan. Belo Horizonte. p. 108-115

Corbetta, M., & Shulman, G. L. (2002). Control of goal-directed and stimulus-driven attention in the brain. Nature reviews neuroscience, 3(3), 201-215.

Crichton, A. (1798). An inquiry into the nature and origin of mental derangement: Comprehending a concise system of the physiology and pathology of the human mind and a history of the passions and their effects. London, England: T. Cadell Hr. & W. Davies. (Reprinted by AMS Press, New York, 1976)

Crichton, A. (1798). An inquiry into the nature and origin of mental derangement: comprehending a concise system of the physiology and pathology of the human mind. and a history of the passions and their effects (Vol. 2). T. Cadell, junior and W. Davies.

Dagher, A., Owen, A.M., Boecker, H., & Brooks, D.J. (1999). Mapping the network for planning: A correlational PET activation study with the Tower of London task. Brain, 122.

Dale, A. M., Fischl, B., & Sereno, M. I. (1999). Cortical surface-based analysis: I. Segmentation and surface reconstruction. Neuroimage, 9(2), 179-194.

Dayan, P., & Yu, A. J. (2006). Phasic norepinephrine: a neural interrupt signal for unexpected events. Network: Computation in Neural Systems, 17(4), 335-350.

De Luca, C. R., Wood, S. J., Anderson, V., Buchanan, J. A., Proffitt, T. M., Mahony, K., & Pantelis, C. (2003). Normative data from the CANTAB. I: development of executive function over the lifespan. Journal of clinical and experimental neuropsychology, 25(2), 242-254.

Destrieux, C., Fischl, B., Dale, A., & Halgren, E. (2010). Automatic parcellation of human cortical gyri and sulci using standard anatomical nomenclature. Neuroimage, 53(1), 1-15.

Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders : DSM-IV. (1996). Washington, DC : American Psychiatric Association.

Diamond, A. (2013). Executive functions. Annual review of psychology, 64, 135-168.

Dobrosavljevic, M., Solares, C., Cortese, S., Andershed, H., & Larsson, H. (2020). Prevalence of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder in older adults: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews, 118, 282-289.*

Donchin, E. & Coles, M. (1988) Is the P300 component a manifestation of context updating? The Behavioral and Brain Sciences, 11, 357-374

Dosenbach, N.U.F., Fair, D.A., Cohen, A.L., Schlaggar, B.L., Petersen, S.E. (2008). A dual-networks architecture of top-down control. Trends Cogn. Sci. (Regul Ed) 12 (3), 99–105

ease of shifting to new responses in a Weigl-type card-sorting problem. Journal

Engel, A. K., & Fries, P. (2010). Beta-band oscillations-signalling the status quo?. Current opinion in neurobiology, 20(2), 156-165.

Engel, A. K., & Fries, P. (2010). B -band oscillations—signalling the status quo? Current opinion in neurobiology, 20(2), 156-165.

Faraone SV, Biederman J, Mick E. The age-dependent decline of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: a meta-analysis of follow-up studies. Psychol Med 2006; 36: 159–65.

Faraone, S. V., & Larsson, H. (2019). Genetics of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. Molecular psychiatry, 24(4), 562-575.

Fayyad, J., Sampson, N. A., Hwang, I., Adamowski, T., Aguilar-Gaxiola, S., Al-Hamzawi, A., ... & WHO World Mental Health Survey Collaborators. (2017). The descriptive epidemiology of DSM-IV adult ADHD in the world health organization world mental health surveys. ADHD Attention Deficit and Hyperactivity Disorders, 9(1), 47-65. Hämäläinen, M., & Hari, R. (2002). Magnetoencephalographic (MEG) characterization of dynamic brain activation. Brain mapping: the methods, Ed, 2, 227-254.

Fischl, B. (2012). FreeSurfer. NeuroImage, 62(2), 774–781.

Francx, W., Llera, A., Mennes, M., Zwiers, M. P., Faraone, S. V., Oosterlaan, J., Heslenfeld, D., Hoekstra, P. J., Hartman, C. A., Franke, B., Buitelaar, J. K., & Beckmann, C. F. (2016). Integrated analysis of gray and white matter alterations in attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. NeuroImage. Clinical, 11, 357–367.

Francx, W., Llera, A., Mennes, M., Zwiers, M. P., Faraone, S. V., Oosterlaan, J., ... & Beckmann, C. F. (2016). Integrated analysis of gray and white matter alterations in attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. NeuroImage: Clinical, 11, 357-367.

Fries, P., Nikolić, D., & Singer, W. (2007). The gamma cycle. Trends in neurosciences, 30(7), 309-316.

Ganis G, Thompson WL, Kosslyn SM. Brain areas underlying visual mental imagery and visual perception: an fMRI study. Brain Res Cogn Brain Res. 2004 Jul;20(2):226-41. doi: 10.1016/j.cogbrainres.2004.02.012.

Gilbert, S. J., & Burgess, P. W. (2008). Executive function. Current Biology, 18(3), R110-R114.

Gilmore, J. H., Knickmeyer, R. C., & Gao, W. (2018). Imaging structural and functional brain development in early childhood. Nature reviews. Neuroscience, 19(3), 123–137

Godefroy, O., Cabaret, M., Petit-Chenal, V., Pruvo, J. P., & Rousseaux, M. (1999). Control functions of the frontal lobes. Modularity of the centralsupervisory system?. Cortex, 35(1), 1-20.

Goethals, I., Audenaert, K., Jacobs, F., Van de Wiele, C., Pyck, H., Ham, H., ... & Dierckx, R. (2004). Application of a neuropsychological activation probe with SPECT: the 'Tower of London'task in healthy volunteers. Nuclear Medicine Communications, 25(2), 177-182.

Gonzalez-Hernandez, J. A., Pita-Alcorta, C., Cedeno, I., Días-Comas, L., & Figueredo-Rodriguez, P. (2003). Abnormal functional asymmetry in occipital areas may prevent frontotemporal regions from achieving functional laterality during the WCST performance in patients with schizophrenia. Schizophrenia research, 61(2-3), 229-233.

Gramfort, A., Luessi, M., Larson, E., Engemann, D. A., Strohmeier, D., Brodbeck, C., ... Hämäläinen, M. S. (2014). MNE software for processing MEG and EEG data. NeuroImage, 86, 446–460.

Grant, D. A., & Berg, E. (1948). A behavioral analysis of degree of reinforcement and ease of shifting to new responses in a Weigl-type card-sorting problem. Journal of experimental psychology, 38(4), 404.

Gratton G, Cooper P, Fabiani M, Carter CS, Karayanidis F. Dynamics of cognitive control: Theoretical bases, paradigms, and a view for the future. Psychophysiology. 2018 Mar;55(3). doi: 10.1111/psyp.13016. Epub 2017 Oct 17.

Hale, T., Kane, A. M., Kaminsky, O., Tung, K. L., Wiley, J. F., McGough, J. J., ... & Kaplan, J. T. (2014). Visual network asymmetry and default mode network function in ADHD: an fMRI study. Frontiers in psychiatry. 5, 81.

Hämäläinen, M., & Hari, R. (2002). Magnetoencephalographic (MEG) characterization of dynamic brain activation. Brain mapping: the methods, Ed, 2, 227-254.

Hartmann, P., Ramseier, A., Gudat, F., Mihatsch, M. J., & Polasek, W. (1994). Normal weight of the brain in adults in relation to age, sex, body height and weight. Der Pathologe, 15(3), 165-170.

Heller A. S. (2016). Cortical-Subcortical Interactions in Depression: From Animal Models to Human Psychopathology. Frontiers in systems neuroscience, 10, 20.

Honkanen, R., Rouhinen, S., Wang, S. H., Palva, J. M., & Palva, S. (2015). Gamma oscillations underlie the maintenance of feature-specific information and the contents of visual working memory. Cerebral cortex, 25(10), 3788-3801.

Hsieh, L. T., & Ranganath, C. (2014). Frontal midline θ oscillations during working memory maintenance and episodic encoding and retrieval. Neuroimage, 85, 721-729.

James F. Cavanagh, Michael X Cohen, John J. B. Allen. (2009) Prelude to and Resolution of an Error: EEG Phase Synchrony Reveals Cognitive Control Dynamics during Action Monitoring. Journal of Neuroscience. 7, 29: (1) 98-105.

Jensen, O. & Mazaheri, A. (2010). Shaping functional architecture by oscillatory α activity: gating by inhibition. Frontiers of Human Neuroscience 4, 186.

Jurado, M. B., & Rosselli, M. (2007). The elusive nature of executive functions: a review of our current understanding. Neuropsychology review, 17(3), 213-233.

Katzman, M. A., Bilkey, T. S., Chokka, P. R., Fallu, A., & Klassen, L. J. (2017). Adult ADHD and comorbid disorders: clinical implications of a dimensional approach. *BMC psychiatry*, 17(1), 1-15.

Kessler, R. C., Adler, L. A., Barkley, R., Biederman, J., Conners, C. K., Faraone, S. V., ... & Zaslavsky, A. M. (2005). Patterns and predictors of attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder persistence into adulthood: results from the national comorbidity survey replication. Biological psychiatry, 57(11), 1442-1451.

Kessler, R. C., Green, J. G., Adler, L. A., Barkley, R. A., Chatterji, S., Faraone, S. V., ... & Van Brunt, D. L. (2010). Structure and diagnosis of adult attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder: analysis of expanded symptom criteria from the Adult ADHD Clinical Diagnostic Scale. Archives of general psychiatry, 67(11), 1168-1178.

Korhonen, O., Palva, S., & Palva, J. M. (2014). Sparse weightings for collapsing inverse solutions to cortical parcellations optimize M/EEG source reconstruction accuracy. Journal of neuroscience methods, 226, 147-160.

Kuntsi, J., Rijsdijk, F., Ronald, A., Asherson, P., & Plomin, R. (2005). Genetic influences on the stability of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder symptoms from early to middle childhood. Biological psychiatry, 57(6), 647-654.

Lange, K. W., Reichl, S., Lange, K. M., Tucha, L., & Tucha, O. (2010). The history of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. ADHD Attention Deficit and Hyperactivity Disorders, 2(4), 241-255.

Lavelle, C. L., Shellis, R. P., & Poole, D. F. G. (1977). Evolutionary changes to the primate skull and dentition. Charles C. Thomas Publisher.

Lazeron, R. H., Rombouts, S. A., Machielsen, W. C., Scheltens, P., Witter, M. P., & Uylings, H. B., et al. (2000). Visualizing brain activation during planning: The tower of London test adapted for functional MR imaging. American Journal of Neuroradiology. 21, 1407–1414.

Lenartowicz, A., Mazaheri, A., Jensen, O., & Loo, S. K. (2018). Aberrant Modulation of Brain Oscillatory Activity and Attentional Impairment in Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder. Biological psychiatry. Cognitive neuroscience and neuroimaging, 3(1), 19–29.

Levin FR, Evans SM, Kleber HD. (1999). Practical guidelines for the treatment of substance abusers with adult attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder. Psychiatr Serv. ;50:1001–1003

Lezak, M. D., Howieson, D. B., Loring, D. W., & Fischer, J. S. (2004). Neuropsychological assessment. Oxford University Press, USA.

Lin, Z., & Madras, B. K. (2006). Human genetics and pharmacology of neurotransmitter transporters. Neurotransmitter Transporters, 327-371.

Lobier, M., Palva, J. M., & Palva, S. (2018). High-alpha band synchronization across frontal, parietal and visual cortex mediates behavioral and neuronal effects of visuospatial attention. Neuroimage, 165, 222-237.

Lombardi, W. J., Andreason, P. J., Sirocco, K. Y., Rio, D. E., Gross, R. E., Umhau, J. C., & Hommer, D. W. (1999). Wisconsin Card Sorting Test performance following head injury: Dorsolateral fronto-striatal circuit activity predicts perseveration. Journal of clinical and experimental neuropsychology, 21(1), 2-16.

Luria, A.R. (1966). Higher cortical functions in man. Basic Books.

Mably, A. J., & Colgin, L. L. (2018). Gamma oscillations in cognitive disorders. Current opinion in neurobiology, 52, 182-187.

Malloy-Diniz, L., Fuentes, D., Leite, W. B., Correa, H., & Bechara, A. (2007). Impulsive behavior in adults with attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder: characterization of attentional, motor, and cognitive impulsiveness. Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society, 13(4), 693-698.

McAlonan, G. M., Cheung, V., Cheung, C., Chua, S. E., Murphy, D. G., Suckling, J., ... & Ho, T. P. (2007). Mapping brain structure in attention deficithyperactivity disorder: a voxel-based MRI study of regional grey and white matter volume. Psychiatry Research: Neuroimaging, 154(2), 171-180.

Miller, E. K., & Cohen, J. D. (2001). An integrative theory of prefrontal cortex function. Annual review of neuroscience, 24(1), 167-202.

Miyake, A., Friedman, N. P., Emerson, M. J., Witzki, A. H., Howerter, A., & Wager, T. D. (2000). The unity and diversity of executive functions and their contributions to complex "frontal lobe" tasks: A latent variable analysis. Cognitive psychology, 41(1), 49-100.

Moeller, F. G., Barratt, E. S., Dougherty, D. M., Schmitz, J. M., & Swann, A. C. (2001). Psychiatric aspects of impulsivity. American journal of psychiatry, 158(11), 1783-1793.

Morris, R. G., Ahmed, S., Syed, G. M., & Toone, B. K. (1993). Neural correlates of planning ability: frontal lobe activation during the Tower of London test. Neuropsychologia, 31(12), 1367-1378.

Morris, R. G., Ahmed, S., Syed, G. M., & Toone, B. K. (1993). Neural correlates of planning ability: frontal lobe activation during the Tower of London test. Neuropsychologia, 31(12), 1367-1378.

Nagahama, Y., Okada, T., Katsumi, Y., Hayashi, Y., Yamauchi, H., & Oyanagi, Y., et al. (2001). Dissociable mechanisms of attentional control within the human prefrontal cortex. Cerebral Cortex, 11, 85–92.

Nagel, B. J., Bathula, D., Herting, M., Schmitt, C., Kroenke, C. D., Fair, D., & Nigg, J. T. (2011). Altered white matter microstructure in children with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, 50(3), 283–292.

Nyberg, L., Habib, R., McIntosh, A. R., & Tulving, E. (2000). Reactivation of encoding-related brain activity during memory retrieval. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 97(20), 11120-11124.

of Experimental Psychology, 38(4), 404–411.

Owen, A.M., Sahakian, B., Hodges, J.R., Summers, B.A., Polkey, C.E., & Robbins, T.W. (1995). Dopamine-dependent frontrostriatal planning deficits in early Parkinson's disease. Neuropsychology, 9.

Palva, S., & Palva, J. M. (2011). Functional roles of alpha-band phase synchronization in local and large-scale cortical networks. Frontiers in psychology, 2, 204.

Patton, J. H., Stanford, M. S., & Barratt, E. S. (1995). Factor structure of the Barratt impulsiveness scale. Journal of clinical psychology, 51(6), 768-774.

Pearson, J. The human imagination: the cognitive neuroscience of visual mental imagery. Nat Rev Neurosci 20, 624-634 (2019).

Periáñez, J., Maestú, F., Barceló, F., Fernández, A., Amo, C., Ortiz Alonso, T. (2004). Spatiotemporal brain dynamics during preparatory set shifting: MEG evidence. Neuroimage. 21(2):687-95. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2003.10.008.

Polanczyk, G. V., Willcutt, E. G., Salum, G. A., Kieling, C., & Rohde, L. A. (2014). ADHD prevalence estimates across three decades: an updated systematic review and meta-regression analysis. International journal of epidemiology, 43(2), 434-442.

Polanczyk, G., De Lima, M. S., Horta, B. L., Biederman, J., & Rohde, L. A. (2007). The worldwide prevalence of ADHD: a systematic review and metaregression analysis. *American journal of psychiatry*, 164(6), 942-948.

Polich, J. (2007) Updating P300: An integrative theory of P3a and P3b. Clinical Neurophysiology., 118, 2128-2148

Posner, M. I., & Petersen, S. E. (1990). The attention system of the human brain. Annual review of neuroscience, 13(1), 25-42.

Posner, M. I., & Petersen, S. E. (1990). The attention system of the human brain. Annual review of neuroscience, 13(1), 25-42.

Proal, E., Reiss, P.T., Klein, R.G., Mannuzza, S., Gotimer, K., Ramos-Olazagasti, M.A., Lerch, J.P., He, Y., Zijdenbos, A., Kelly, C., Milham, M.P., Castellanos, F.X. (2011). Brain gray matter deficits at 33-year follow-up in adults with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder established in childhood. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 68, (11):1122-34.

Purves D, Augustine GJ, Fitzpatrick D, et al., editors. Neuroscience. 2nd edition. Sunderland (MA): Sinauer Associates; 2001. Electrical Synapses. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK11164/

Ragert, P., Camus, M., Vandermeeren, Y., Dimyan, M. A., & Cohen, L. G. (2009). Modulation of effects of intermittent theta burst stimulation applied over primary motor cortex (M1) by conditioning stimulation of the opposite M1. Journal of neurophysiology, 102(2), 766-773.

Raghavachari, S., Kahana, M. J., Rizzuto, D. S., Caplan, J. B., Kirschen, M. P., Bourgeois, B., ... & Lisman, J. E. (2001). Gating of human theta oscillations by a working memory task. Journal of Neuroscience, 21(9), 3175-3183.

Ray, W. J., & Cole, H. W. (1985). EEG alpha activity reflects attentional demands, and beta activity reflects emotional and cognitive processes. Science, 228(4700), 750-752.

Rogers R. D. (2011). The roles of dopamine and serotonin in decision making: evidence from pharmacological experiments in humans. Neuropsychopharmacology : official publication of the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology, 36(1), 114–132.

Rose NS, LaRocque JJ, Riggall AC, Gosseries O, Starrett MJ, Meyering EE, Postle BR. (2016). Science. Dec 2; 354(6316):1136-1139.

Rovira, P., Demontis, D., Sánchez-Mora, C. et al. Shared genetic background between children and adults with attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Neuropsychopharmacology. 45, 1617–1626 (2020).

Rovira, P., Demontis, D., Sánchez-Mora, C., Zayats, T., Klein, M., Mota, N. R., ... & Ribasés, M. (2020). Shared genetic background between children and adults with attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Neuropsychopharmacology, 45(10), 1617-1626.

Rose, N. S., LaRocque, J. J., Riggall, A. C., Gosseries, O., Starrett, M. J., Meyering, E. E., & Postle, B. R. (2016). Reactivation of latent working memories with transcranial magnetic stimulation. Science, 354(6316), 1136-1139.

Schmidt, R., Ruiz, M. H., Kilavik, B. E., Lundqvist, M., Starr, P. A., & Aron, A. R. (2019). Beta oscillations in working memory, executive control of movement and thought, and sensorimotor function. Journal of Neuroscience, 39(42), 8231-8238.

Simon, V., Czobor, P., Bálint, S., Mészáros, A., & Bitter, I. (2009). Prevalence and correlates of adult attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder: metaanalysis. British Journal of Psychiatry, 194(3), 204–211.

Singh S. P. (2014). Magnetoencephalography: Basic principles. Annals of Indian Academy of Neurology, 17(Suppl 1), S107–S112.

Spitzer, B., & Haegens, S. (2017). Beyond the Status Quo: A Role for B Oscillations in Endogenous Content (Re)Activation. eNeuro, 4(4), ENEURO.0170-17.2017.

Spitzer, B., & Haegens, S. (2017). Beyond the status quo: a role for beta oscillations in endogenous content (re) activation. eneuro, 4(4).

Sporns, O. (2013). Structure and function of complex brain networks. Dialogues in clinical neuroscience, 15(3), 247–262.

Sporns, O., & Betzel, R. F. (2016). Modular brain networks. Annual review of psychology, 67, 613-640.

Spreng R. N. (2012). The fallacy of a "task-negative" network. Frontiers in psychology, 3, 145.

Taulu, S. & Kajola, M. (2005). Presentation of electromagnetic multichannel data: the signal space separation method. *Journal of Applied Physics*. 97(12):124905.

Taulu, S. & Simola, J. (2006). Spatiotemporal signal space separation method for rejecting nearby interference in MEG measurements. *Physics in Medicine and Biology*. 51(7):1759–1768.

The National Institute of Mental Health. (2019). Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Retrieved July 24, 2021, from https://www.nimh.nih.gov/health/topics/attention-deficit-hyperactivity-disorder-adhd/.

Thomas Yeo, B. T., Krienen, F. M., Sepulcre, J., Sabuncu, M. R., Lashkari, D., Hollinshead, M., ... & Buckner, R. L. (2011). The organization of the human cerebral cortex estimated by intrinsic functional connectivity. Journal of neurophysiology, 106(3), 1125-1165.

Tzagarakis, C., Ince, N. F., Leuthold, A. C., & Pellizzer, G. (2010). Beta-band activity during motor planning reflects response uncertainty. Journal of Neuroscience, 30(34), 11270-11277.

Utevsky, A. V., Smith, D. V., & Huettel, S. A. (2014). Precuneus is a functional core of the default-mode network. Journal of Neuroscience, 34(3), 932-940.

Vatansever, D., Menon, D. K., & Stamatakis, E. A. (2017). Default mode contributions to automated information processing. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 114(48), 12821-12826.

Vossel, S., Geng, J. J., & Fink, G. R. (2014). Dorsal and ventral attention systems: distinct neural circuits but collaborative roles. The Neuroscientist : a review journal bringing neurobiology, neurology and psychiatry, 20(2), 150–159.

Vossel, S., Geng, J. J., & Fink, G. R. (2014). Dorsal and ventral attention systems: distinct neural circuits but collaborative roles. The Neuroscientist, 20(2), 150-159.

Wagner, G., Koch, K., Reichenbach, J. R., Sauer, H., & Schlösser, R. G. (2006). The special involvement of the rostrolateral prefrontal cortex in planning abilities: an event-related fMRI study with the Tower of London paradigm. Neuropsychologia, 44(12), 2337-2347.

Wertz, C. J., Hanlon, F. M., Shaff, N. A., Dodd, A. B., Bustillo, J., Stromberg, S. F., ... & Mayer, A. R. (2019). Disconnected and hyperactive: a replication of sensorimotor cortex abnormalities in patients with schizophrenia during proactive response inhibition. Schizophrenia bulletin, 45(3), 552-561.

Wilens, T. E. (2004). Impact of ADHD and its treatment on substance abuse in adults. Journal of Clinical Psychiatry, 65, 38-45.

Wilk, H. A., Ezekiel, F., & Morton, J. B. (2012). Brain regions associated with moment-to-moment adjustments in control and stable task-set maintenance. Neuroimage, 59(2), 1960-1967.

Willcutt, E. G. (2012). The prevalence of DSM-IV attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: a meta-analytic review. Neurotherapeutics, 9(3), 490-499.

Willcutt, E. G., Doyle, A. E., Nigg, J. T., Faraone, S. V., & Pennington, B. F. (2005). Validity of the executive function theory of attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder: a meta-analytic review. *Biological psychiatry*, 57(11), 1336-1346.

Yeo, B. T., Krienen, F. M., Sepulcre, J., Sabuncu, M. R., Lashkari, D., Hollinshead, M., Roffman, J. L., Smoller, J. W., Zöllei, L., Polimeni, J. R., Fischl, B., Liu, H., & Buckner, R. L. (2011). The organization of the human cerebral cortex estimated by intrinsic functional connectivity. *Journal of neurophysiology*. 106(3), 1125–1165.

Zanto, T. P., & Gazzaley, A. (2013). Fronto-parietal network: flexible hub of cognitive control. Trends in cognitive sciences, 17(12), 602-603.

Zanto, T. P., & Gazzaley, A. (2013). Fronto-parietal network: flexible hub of cognitive control. Trends in cognitive sciences, 17(12), 602-603.